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ST. MARK'S HISTORIC DISTRICT, Borough of ManhafTan:

The property bounded by thc western property line of 21 Stuyvesant Strcet,
Stuyvesant Strcet, tho western property |inec of 42 Stuyvesant Strect, the rear lot
lines of 42 and 44 Stuyvesant Street, the castern property lincs of 44 and 46
Stuyvesant Strect, Second Avenue, East |Ith Stroet, the western property linc of
232 East lith Street, a portion of the rear lot line of 129 East 10th Street, the
rear lot line of 127 East (0th Strcct, a portion of the wostorn property |ine of
127 East 10th Street, the rcar ot lines of 125 through 109 East 10th Strect, the
western property finc of 109 East (0+h Street, East 10th Stroet, the western prop-
erty line of 106 East I0th Street, and the rear lot lines of 106 East 10th Stroct
to the western property linc of 2| Stuyvesant Street.

Om Aprit 12, 1966, the Landmarks Prescrvation Commission hcld a public hoaring
on the proposed designation of the St. Mark's Historic District (Item No. 32). The
hearing had been duly advertiscd in accordance with the provisions of law. Four

witnesses spoke in favor of designation. There wcre no speakers in opposition to
designation.

In rccent yoars, a great deal of effort has gone into tho rehabilitation of
this arca, and many residents and property ownors there have urged the Commission
to make this designation. Supporters of the proposed designation include St.
Mark's Church In-the-Bowcry and the ownors of 123, 125, 127 and 129 East 10th .
Strecet and 108, {14, 118, 120 and 128 Enst 10th Strect and 21,°23,.25, 27, 29, 31,
33, 35, 42 and 44 Stuyvesant Street. ' '

HISTORY

Historically and architecturally, the St. Mark's Historic District is of grecat
value to the City of Now York. It is a fragment of mid-Minetoenth Century archi-
tecture, showing primarily the variations within the italianate style but includes
three of the earliest Federal buildings in lfanhattan. Historically, it strotches
back to Peter Stuyvesant, Dircctor General of the test India Company in New
Notherlands. He bought Bowery #1 on which was situated his home and part of
Bowery #2, which became thc nucleus of his holdings, from the West India Company
March 12, 1651. (Bowcry is an anglicization of the old Dutch word for farm), The
fane that originaltly scparated the two farms cventually became Stuyvesant Strect.

These properties were ultimatcly bequeathed, (see Genealogy) but for a few
exceptions, to the Director Gencral's great-grandson, Petrus (1727-1805) who, in
the Dutch style, used the Latin form of the nama. 1+ is during his (ifotime that
the story of this Historic District, as we seec It today, begins.

The development was shaped primarily by two factors: (. The provisions of
the wills of the Stuyvesants. 2. The street patterns imposed on the Stuyvesant
property.

Evert Bancker, Jr., surveyed and laid out Stuyvesant Strcet for Petrus
Stuyvaesant November 30, 1787 and, we assume, mapped a comploto street plan through
his property, squaring with the points of the compass. Stuyvesant Street actually
runs due cast and west. The present Manhattan grid pattern follows the axis of
the Island. The streets running north and south werce namod for Petrus Stuyvesant!
four daughters, Judith, Elfzabeth, Margarct and Cornclia. The streets which ran
paraliel to Stuyvesant Street werc, in order from north to south, Tenbroeck,
Winthrop, Gerard, Governor, Peter, Stuyvesant, Nicholas William and Verplanck, anc
were named for male members of the family. Unfortunately the Bancker map cannot
be found, but the streect pattcrn has been recorded on the Goarck-liangin Map, 1799,
"which was drawn from actual survecy," and a portion of it appears on the later
William Bridges map 1807-1811. (Appendix "A™)

At least as carly as 1789, Potrus Stuyvesant had begun to lot his property.
Again no map Is available, but he refers in his witl to fots as surveyed by
Charles Loss (Vill Liber 46, p. 107). Pctrus Stuyvcsant, as did others at this
timc (Aaron Burr, the Bayards and Trinity Church), bcgan preparations, first, for
increasing his income, and incidontally planning for the future pressures of
urban oxpansion. (The Stuyvesants werc land-poor at this time.)
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Threc Earliest Buildings Mow Standing

Three important bulldings stand from the lifctimo of Petrus Stuyvesant. St.
Mark's Church 1795-1799, for which he gave the land and 800 towards its con-
struction, and No. 2| Stuyvesant Strcct, 1803-1804, the home of his daughter
Elizabeth Stuyvesant and her husband Nicholas Fish., These two buildings have al-
recady been dosignated as Landmarks by the Landmorks Preservation Commission and are
covered In separate rcports. The third building Is No. 44 Stuyvesant Street, shown
on thc Bridges map as a free standing house at thc then southwest corner of
Stuyvosant and Judith Strects, opposite St. Mark's Church on the then northeast
corner.,

This housc was erected in 1795 for Nicholas William Stuyvosant, who married
Catherine Livingston Rcade, January 31, 1795, They lived in this house for twenty-
thrce ycars until the death of his mother in 1818, when they moved into the
“Bowery Housc',

Potrus Stuyvesant died in 1805 and by thc provisions of his will it Liber
46, p. 107), left to his oldest son Nichotas Wiltliam, the "Bowery House” and all
the property south of Stuyvesant Streot, and to Peter Gerard, 'Petersfield' and
all the land north of Stuyvcsant Street, excopt thc four houses in possession of
his daughters.

The New York State - legislature, April 3, 1807, appointed Commissioners to lay
out a plan for the City of New York. The result is the "grid plan" we know today.
William Bridges made the original survey and map 1807-1811. Althouah [t was a
number of years before the ncw street pattern was cut through (2rd Ave. in 1872,
2nd Avenue in 1816 and 8th - |2th Sts. in 1826) and Iimposed over the original
streot pattern, its impact was evident as soon as the surveyors set up their in-
struments. The consequences were as radical in their time as a largo urban renewal
project is today. The strcets would have been closed, buildings moved, the land
acquired by carcful procedurc, and the owners compensated for their losses, or
assessed, if proximity to the now street Increcased tho value of their property.

The map of Nicholas William's property (346~A, Mop Room, Registrar's Offico),

drawn in 1815, was planned to conform to the new streect pattern. lincidentally,
this map also shows 44 Stuyvesant Street. St. Mark's Church potitioned the
legislature for permission to convoy church-owned land to proprietors of adjoining
lands, and to rcceive such lands, as the changes in the strects imposed a great
hardship, becausc the preosent shape of the boundaries of the Church burying ground
and parsonage wore in fact abolished by the Act of April 3, (807 (Liber 130 p. 519,
June |7, 1818).

Stuyvesant Strect was opened as a public street “both for Public conveniconce
and for the accommodation of a large and respcctable Congregation attending St.
Mark's Church as well as the owncrs and occupants of several large and commodious
dwelling houses . . . . all of which would be dustroyed, or rendered of littlo
value, If that street were closed." (Mlinutes of the Common Council January 25,
1830)

The cutting through of Tenth Strecet in 1826 considerably reduced the size of
the Fish property at 2I STuyvesant Strect, and Peter Gerard Stuyvesant (who had
inherited this pioce of tand under the toerms of his father's wlll) conveyed a strip
in 1828, and the rost of the triangular shaped gore lot ot Stuyvesant and 10th
Strects in 1834, to Etizabeth and Nicholas Fish (Liber 312-171) to compensatc for
the loss of their rcar garden. '

This gore lot, on which "The Triangle" would cventually be buitt, has popu-
larly been known as "Elizaboth Fish's Gardens". Originally it was a rcctangle of
150 x 200 fcet and is probably thc same land described in the 1808 tax assessment
book as Pcter Gerard Stuyvesant's garden. 1+ was undoubtediy used by all the
family who lived in Stuyvcsant Stroet. Peter Gerard Stuyvesant moved into the
house originally belonging to his sister Margaret, after he sold "Petersfield” and
200 tots for $100,000 Aprit 19, 1825.
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According to a reminiscence of Stuyvesant Fish, the garden contained flowers,
two horse chestnut frees, berry bushecs, a greenhouse, stablo and the family cow,
Emily, “Elizabeth Fish's Gardcn® and most of Tenth Strect remained vacant land
untit aftor her death (Scptember 16, 1854). 1t sccms the family wished to rotain

the quict environment of fifty ycars before, when she was married., 1In 1858
Matthias Banta bought the property for development.

Tho Stuyvesant Family

Excopt for the first Poter Stuyvesant, whose |lfe has boen both documented and
romanticized by Walter Huston's singing of “Septcmber Song"” in the musical show
Knickerbocker Holiday, there is tittlc published information about the succeeding
generations of Stuyvesants. Very few femily papers, if they exist, are availablo
to the public. Gerardus was described "as a man of probity who was clected into
the magistracy thirty years succcssively.” Micholas Yilllam was o merchant, Petrus
servod as a captain in the French War.

We know the most about Pcter Gerard Stuyvesant. He was a founder of The New-
York Historical Society. Hc gave the land for Stuyvesant Square and for St.
George's Church. Undoubtedly, ho and Thomas MacFarlan managed his cstate with
extraordinary judgment, for after Pcter Gerard Stuyvesant drowned at Niagara Falls
in 1847, Philip Hone reportcd he was the "wealthiest man In New York, after Astor.”
His will divided his ostatc among his nephews, Hamilton Fish and Gorard Stuyvesant,
and his great grandnephew Stuyvesant Rutherford, who was five at the time, with the
provision that his name be changed to Rutherford Stuyvesant, which was speedily
dono thereafter. The Ruthcrfords moved into Poter G. Stuyvesant's newly completed
mansion on the Vlcst side of Sccond Avenue at 11th Streot, and between 1853 and 1858
his father, Lewis MMorris Rutherford, the noted astronomer, built an observatory
there. The New York Times, of October 6, 1912, in a rcminiscence ‘about the house,

said that up to that time the photographs of thc moon taken by Rutherford had never
been cxcelled,

They all served St. ifark's Church, and hore eight generations, from the
Dircctor-Genceral down to Augustus Van Hornc Stuyvezant, the last of the line, aro
all buried. Standing within the Church and sccing Stuyveeamy w--nrigl pjaques,
windows and markcd pews for members of the family, one fecls The sen-. .z pigtory
and the continuity of the family,

Even before the last house in this Historic District was completed, the .
surrounding blocks had beguin to be used fo house lmmlgranfs from Germany. ETG2'
vally this distriet sholtered succeeding waves of immigrants, crowding them : (o}
former single family hoiuses. With a few exceptions, buildings in the Qis+rlc )
becamo rooming housos. For tunately, within the last few ycars, the nc1ghborh03
has enjoycd a successful rcnaissanue through t+he lcadership of Lee Anderson an
Davie Lerner.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUILDINGS

STUYVESANT STKRECT -(Botwoen 27nA Avenue suws Eagt 9+h Street)

With only three different houses on t+he south side wviiin the Historic Distric*,

i n the north side wirv. anty one nuuse
long, uniformly designed row of houses © ‘
i?dd?¢;o,§:f dJesign, this attractive residential street is neverfhelessfaisiq?m
expression of diversity, It is unusual to find such a handsome group'? ;??TU;HG
all executed in a unifurm stylo of architecturc as +hose which virtually
north side of the street.

An interesting contrast to this uniform brick row of Anglo-1talianate town
houses, built in 1861, is the very early town house, at the west end of the gow,H
built for a daughter of the Stuyvesant family in 1804, Beautifully p;ezerv?*,lw
its original dormers, it was, when built, a tall hou§e for lTs day. ‘o ay nfai
dwarfed by the five-story row to the east of I+, an interesting visual comme y
on the changes which our City underwent in a short half century.

The three houses on the south are small brick houses which, aithough altered
and raised in height, are nonetheless much smallor than the apartment houses On
elther side of them which are outside the District.
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STUYVESAMT STREET South Side (Botweon 2nd Avenue and East 9th Streot)

This handsome Anglo-1talianate town house with rusticated stonc base and
central entrance, Just above strcet level, is three windows wide and has its
upper floors of brick. 1t is constructed on a trlanguler-shaped gore lot,

The builder cleverly ovorcame the problem prasented by the gore lot by
placing the doorway in the centor of the hoavily rusticated English bascment
to make the bost possible use of the awkwardly shaped interior of the housc.

Nicholas Willlam Stiyvesant divided his cstato among his cight children,
and lots 28 and 2S of his estotz, now known as Numbers 42, 44 and 46
Stuyvesant Stroct, werc awarded to his son, Robert Roade Stuyvesant.

In 1834 Robert diced, intestate, at tho age of 23 with his widow, Margarct
as solo survivor. She exccuted an agreement with the sons and sons-in-law
of Nicholas 1. Stuyvesant, in which she relcased her dower right in Robert's
share of his father's estato (the sons and sons-in=law doubted the validity
of her claim) for an annual income of $2,327. 1t was cquivalent to a 65
rcturn on. 1/3 of tho productive valuc of Rotert's share of his fathor's
estato. Robert's share rcverted to his fother's estate. (Convey. Liber 403,
p. 161; Convey. Liber 344, p. 570, May |, 1835).

Within the month, May 19, 1835, the heirs of Nicholas William Stuyvesant
sold lots 28 and 29 and two others to Henry Dudicy (ono of the sons-in-law)
for $19,000. Dudley sold the lots to Thomas E. Davies (a largc scale builder
and oxccutor) on Fab. 22, 1837 (Liber 375, p. 36).

To settie the mortgago claims of ‘falton Pcckham against Davies, they
were sold at auction to the highcst bidder, James Hooker, and convoyed to
him by Philo Ruggles, llaster-in-Chancery, January 21, 1840, for $10,500
(Libor 404, p. 280). Hooker, in turn, sold only lots 28 and 29 on Novembor
2, 1844 to Danicl Kingsiand for $5,500 (Liber 451, p. 628). The dizzying
speculation in Now York real cstotc boforc tho Panic of 1837, and the siow
recovory, can bs tracced in the sale priccs for these lots.

In 1853 John L. Smith, builder, acquired the gorc lot at No. 46 from
David Kingstand for $1,250. (Libcr 652, p. 132). The conveyance gave Smith
tho right to insert beams in thc east gablo-cf No. 44 Stuyvesant Stroet and
to uso that wall as a party wall. The bullding was sold by Smith to Samucl
Efliott, oculist, for 510,700, on April |, 1854, (Libcr 659, p. 283),

This oarly Fcderal housc was crocted in 1795 for Micholas YWilllam
Stuyvesant on Stuyvesant Street. |1 may once have had a roof with dormoers.

Examination of thc facade substantiates a construction date, late in the
Eightecnth Century. Tho almost square windows, splayed |intcls and bfick-
tald in Flemish bond aro characteristics of that poriod. The dressed brown-
stone at the basement displays canstruction of superior quality. The door-
way has rctained its original proportions, Indicating the grand style of the
door which has becn reploced.,

At the top floor the front windows wore replaced and the skylight was
added during rcconstruction after a firc. Handsome wrought-iron handrail-
ings flank the stoop.

Surviving intcrior eclements consist of hand-hewn beams, a dog-log stair-
coso starting from the sccond floor, the handsome stair railing, shutters,
doors, chimncy picces and basc boards, dosignod in an early Federal adapta-
tion of thc Adam style, thus indicating o latc Eightcenth Century building.

The chimney ploces have double colonncettes at cach side, and the fricze
is ornamentcd with figures in gesso. The motif on thc baseboard, rceding
alternating with roscttes, is similcr to a design sketched by Samucl
tcintire, trom Bulfinch's Barrell House in Boston, 1792 (Samuel Mcintiro, a
Bicentennial Sympnsium, 1757-1957, Platw 24, Avery Library).
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#44 The rcar exterior construction also indicates a late Eighteenth Century

Ccnt.. date. The basement wall is constructed of stone blocks, and the basement
windows wero once surrounded by stone quoins. (These have been replaced by
brick, but the pattcrn survives). The documentation supplements the archi-
tectural details of the building and points to a construction dote «f 1791-95.
The tax assessment on Nicholas William Stuyvesant's proporty was increased
from X160 in 1794 to &£ 400 in 1795. I+ was on January 31, 1795 that
Nicholas William marricd Catherinc Livingston Rcads.

The coupic lived twenty-threo years in this elegant and spacious house,
raising their family of six sons and threc doughters. By the terms of his
father's witl, Nicholas William inherited the Bowery house, his father's
residence, but Petrus Stuyvesant had given the usc of this house, and a
portion of surrounding land, to his widow during her {ifotime.

Promptly upon the dcath of his mother in 1818, Nicholas William
Stuyvesant moved into "Bowory House' and rented No. 44 Stuyvesant Street.
It continued to be rented during his lifc. The remodeling of the parior

floor, an exceptionally fine example of the later Fedoral style, dates
from 1832.

It Is impossible to over-cmphasizc the importancc of this building -
historically and architecturally. It is one of only two recmaining houscs
of the cariy generations of the Stuyvesant family, and it is that family
name, above all others, that represents Dutch New York.

Architecturally it is important if only as an addition to thec surviving
handful of tate Eightcenth Century houses. VWith the cxception of the Jumel
Mansion and Dyckman farmhousc, it is the only building from that contury,
which has been sololy used for residential use, succossfully rctaining for
over 175 years its original plan (which is two rooms of f the hall) and its
many architectural elements.

#42 In 1845 Daniel Kingsland build No. 42 Stuyvesant Street as a 2% story
house in the Groek Revival styic. Tho building stitl retains somc of its
original flavor, although thc ground floor was remodeled in 1915 (BD Alt.
966~1915), and the skylight was added in 1950 (BD Alt. 827-1950). He was
assessed for $3,500 in 1845, but in 1846 it was an ompty lot, assessed to
J. R. Stuyvesant for $1,700.

STUYVESANT STREET North Sidc (Between East 10th and East 9th Strects)

¥21 Twenty-Ono Stuyvesant Street is a brick Federal style residence with
three full floors and an attic. In its architecture, the Stuyvesant-Fish
Houso displays beauty of proportion, notablc restraint and those detalls
that indicatc an outstanding Federal house. Inside the building many orig-
inal fcaturos have survived testifying to its authenticity - the stairway,
the archway in the hall, ccillng decorations and the side windows that werc
used when the house was first built and had no adjoining building to the
east. The oxterior of 21 Stuyvesant Street is a hallmark of the Federal
stylc; above the windows are the original splayed stonc lintels. On the top
floor of the house are two early arched dormer windows; at the centor of
cach arch is a double keystone and thc top sash has bcen replaced. The
Stuyvesant-Fish House stands today as an all but unique example of a fine
New York urban dwelling of the period.

"El izabeth Fish's Garden,' and most of Tenth Strcct remained vacant land
until after her dcath (Sept. 16, 1854). |t sooms the family wished to re- |
tain the quiet cnvironment of fifty years before when she moved to
Stuyvesant Streot as the brido of !licholas Fish.

The housc at No. 21 Stuyvesant Strcet, is rich in historical association
Petrus Stuyvosant built this housc in 1804 for his daughter Elizabeth, at
the time of her marriage to Nicholas Fish. Fish served at Valley Forge and
throughout the Revolutionary Var. He was commissioned a Major at the age of
eightcen and is believed to have been the youngest Major in the history of
tho Unitod Statcs Army. He was a close friend of Alexander Hami lton and was
also an intimate fricnd of Cencral Lafayctte, who was cntertained at 2|
Stuyvesant Street on the cvening of September 10, 1824, during his famous
rcturn to America, 50 ycars after the Nevolutionary War. MNicholas Fish's
son, Hamilton, was born at No. 21 Stuyvesant Stroot in 1808. Hamitton Fish
sorved as Governor of New York, as Unitcd Statcs Senator, and for eight
ycars as Sccretary of Stato.
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“The Triangie" which extends around into East 10th Strect (Nos. |12~
128) consists of tho following buildings on Stuyvesant Street:

23 Stuyvesant Street, complotcd 1861, Solomon Banta, $6,000.
25 Stuyvesant Stroet, comploted 1861, S. Young 6,000.
27 Stuyvesant Strcet, completed 1861, Samuo! Adams
Matthias Eanta 6,000.
29 Stuyvesant Strecet, completed 1861, Est. J. A. Aguillar 7,000.
31 Stuyvosant Strect, completed 1861, Abendroth Bros. 6,500,
33 Stuyvesant Stroct, completed 1861, latthias Banta
McMaster
35 Stuyvesant Strect, completed 1861, Matthias Banta 6,000,

Elizabeth Stuyvesant Fish willed (Libor 110, p. 41! probated Scpt.
26, 1854), after certain bequests, that tho rcsiduc of her estato be div-
idcd cqually among her four children, Hamilton Fish, Susan LeRoy,
Elizabeth Morris and kargarct Neilson. Gerard V. Morris, Anthony Bloecker
and Thomas MacFarlan were named the partitioners by her will, and the
oxccutors would hold tho daughter's.sharcsiin trust. As part of his share
Hamilton Fish received thc house at No. 21 Stuyvesant Street and the
adjoining property on Tenth Street. Each of the daughters recelved a
portion of the garden which thc Corralssiuncrs, in Partitlon, conveyed to
the trustce, Hamilton Fish on November 9, 1854 as mapped, Oct. (4, 1854
by Thomas Ludiam (Conveyance, Liber 679, p. 33).

The trustce, Hamilton Fish, on August I, 1858 conveyed the property
to Mathias Banta, counselor-at-law for $35,000, receiving $13,351.85 for
Elizabeth Horris, $9,981.48 for Susan LeRoy, and $11,666.67 for Margaret
Neilson (Convey. Liber 780, p. 296, p. 299, p. 303). The conveyanco
stipulated that there was to be built upon the land "no brewery, distill="
cry, slaughter housc, blacksmith shop, forge, furnacc, soap, candlg,
starch, varnish, vitriol, glue, ink or turpentine factory, or any factory
for tanning, dressing, or precparing skins, hides or leather, or any cow
or livery stable or cattle yard, or any other dangcrous, noxlous or
offensive establishments whatsoever, or any houscs generally known as
tenement house, or any other stablc of any kind.'

By March 28, 1859, Mathias Banta had had the property surveyed and
lotted (Banta's lots were imposed on those partitioned for the Fish
daughtors, which accounts for the irregularities of certain rear lot lincs
and determined the dimensions of the houses l2id out by James E. Scrrot,
CS.) (tiap 609 Vap Room, Hall of Records). Heo also arranged for mortgages
on cach lot from thc Institution of Savings of Merchant Clerks or the
Broadway Savings Institution. (Liber 750, p. 541 and Liber 783 p. 240.)

On tdarch 28, 1859 a very modest advcrtiscment was run in the New York
Times and Now York Herald as follows: "For sale, several very dosirable
new houses situated on the south side of Tenth Street between Second and
Third Avenues. Apply to Thomas HlacFarlan & Sons, 180 Tenth Street, near
Third Avenue.” The advertisement only ran for scveral days and was highly
cffective for most of the lots were sold within a few months for prices
ranging from $7,800 to $13,250 depending on the lot and the projected
size of the housc. A comparison of the buyers, with their addresses in
the city directory of the pecriod, indicatas the propcrties were purchased
for investment by the now owners rather than as their residences. Mathias
Banta himsclf did not move to No. 23 Stuyvesant Strcet, from East 90th
Street, until 1365. Construction was bequn in the spring of 1859, the lot
assessment records of that year saying, for the Group on Stuyvesant
Strect, 7 lots in progress,' but thay wore not recordcd as complcted and
fully assessed until 1861,

The design of this group forming “The Triangle,” In the Anglo-
{talianate stylc with pressed brick and stone, has bcen attributed to
James Renwick, Jr. No documantation has been found in conflrmation of
this, or crediting any other architect with the design. Uthethor or not
Renwick was the architect should neither increase nor decrecase the im-
portance of this qroup of buildings, for it Is the outstanding qualifyaa;
the buildings themselves that earns them their rocognition (Arm=+iX .




-7-

#23-35 Visually thc group should be considered as a single building designed

Cont. In the grand manner, Instcad of two rows of small houses on a ftriangular
shaped lot. This is the success of the dosign because looking at the rows,
it is difficult to distinguish the individual houscs. The treatment of
the prow or point of this site, truncated or cut off instead of following
the lot lincs to a point, creatos the main fcature of the design. This
end featurc is cmphasizcd by being facod with stone instead of brick, by
having the corners finishod with vermiculated quoins, and by having bay
windows. Speclal noto should be taken of the rusticated basement with
vermiculation used for contrast and of the different, yet bharmonious, win-.
dow treatments of tho five storics.

This triangular shapcd group of buildings Is in an cxcclicnt state of
preservation. The original lron balconics at the partor floor level are
gone, and othor ironwork is missing, but o complictc set of handrailings
survivos at 128 Cast 10+h Street. Vith these minor exceptions, the
buildings stand today much as thoy were when completad in 1861,

EAST TENTH STREET (Betwcen 2nd and 3rd Avenuss)

A goneral appcarance of unlformity, particularly that of hoight, manifests
itscif on both sides of this strect. The handsome "Trianglc', which also
oxtends around into Stuyvusant Street, agives the south side an air of uniform
aelegance, such as is rarcly to bo found. Adjoining it, to the west, arc throo
more ltalianate houscs of approximatcly the sam: height which, although lacking
the rusticated "English basoments” of "The Triangle”, malintain tho dignificd
air of this purcly residential strcet.

On tho north sidc a note of variety appears in tho middle of the block,
whora an apartment house of the late eightecn-ninetlios risos well above the
general cornice line of the adjoining rasidences. |+ not only riscs above them
but is set forward from tho building linc of its neighbors on cither sido.

To the cast of the apartmont house, four houscs fill the spacc between it
and thc church-yard. Paired architecturally, the two nearcst to it arc an
architectural treasurc of Anglo-ltalianate design, complete with rusticated
"English bascments'” and cast iron balconias at the parlor floor.

To the west of tho apartmoent house stands one finc old mansion and, to
the wast of it, a row of housos which have becn combtned, at a later date, to
form whot appears to be onc long building., This long building, as secn today,
Is o part of the strect scene which is typical of so many alterations through-
out the City and also of Tenth Stroet. Lacking the greater architectural
distinction of its neighbors it does, nonctheless, conform to them with rogord
to its scalc and the spacing of Its windows. Thus, it harmonizes well with
those other parts of the street which best express the charm of the District.

EAST TENTH STREET South side (Betwecon 2nd and 3rd Avenues)

#112-128 "Tho Triangie", which oxtends around into Stuyvesant Strect (Nos.
23-35), consists of the fo!towing buildings on East Tonth Strcet:

128 (orig. 198) E. 10th St., complcted 1861, James Sinclair  $7,000.
126 (orig. 196) E. 10th St., " " Jamgs Sinclair 6,000.
124 (orig. 194) E, 10th St., " " Frederick Hood 6,000.
122 (orlg. 192) E. 10th St., " " J. R, lott 5,600.
120 (orig. 190) E. 10th St., " " James Sinclair 5,800.
118 (orig. 186) E. 10th St., " " lvan Keyser

Witilam Berrien 5,800,
116 (orig. 186) E. 10th St., i " James Stowart 5,800.
114 (orig. 184) E. 10th St., " " Joan S. Howecll 6,000,
112 (orig. 182) E. 10th St., " o Joslah Burton

tlathias Banta 6,500.
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The foregoing text for "The Triangle" on Stuyvesant Strect Is also
applicable to these similar builidings on East 10th Strect which form a
part of it. Note the ncw facade at No. 112 of 1927 (BD Ait. 1427/27).
Banta had convoyed thesc propertics to the above owners prior to 1861,
but for some reason, hc continued to pay the taxes.

These three idcntical houses were built in 1867 for James Mulry.
in 1867 theso throe lots werc assessed as part of Hamilton Fish's
property at No. 2! Stuyvesant Strcet. They were designed in a late
vorsion of the [talianate style by D. & J. Jardinc, architects. The
scegmental-arched doorways have stone cornico-slabs supported on vertical
console brackets which, in turn, arc carried on paneled pilasters. They
are four stories high, above a basement, and all retain their stoops.
Thoy are all thrco surmounted by individual brackoted cornices which are
aligned at the same level. The stone basement wall is carried up to
sill hcight at thc first floor with handsome recesscd stone pancls under
cach window,

The lots for Numbcers 106, 108 and 110 East 10th Street worc inheri-
ted by Hamilton Fish from his mother's cstatc. Hc icased them, commenc-
ing May 1, 1867, for 21 ycears at the rcntal of $200 cach per year to
James Mulry. The leoasc was subject to rencwal at futurc 21 year inter-
vals and carried, in addition, the restriction on dangerous, noxious or
oftfonsivc cstablishments, |f this wero violated, nct only would owners
of adjoining property have thc right tc takc action, but also owners
whose property derive from Hamilton Fish or Peter G. Stuyvesant. In
addition, the conveyance stipulates that the whole front thereof (lots)
be covered by "a good and substantial dwelling house, three or morc
stories high, but nct to bc of the class cr description commonty known
as tenement houses ‘'or' community houses", to be constructed of brick
or stone and to be covered with slate or metal. (Convey. Liber 1087
pp. 280, 285, 291)

How Mulry carried out the provisions of the lease Is recorded on
his application to the building department and by the buildings them-
selves. His application (N.B. 943-1867) was filed for three one-family
dwellings, four stories, basement, and sub-cellar, at an estimated cost
of $6,000 each. With only minor changos (the replacement of the iron-
work at all of the buildings and the windows at No. 108), the houses
stand today much as designed.

EAST TENTH STREET North slide (Betwcen 2nd and 3rd Avenues)

This row of similar houses, with its windows aligned, has been
visually combined together by being painted white. The only difference
is that Numbers 109 through |13 have a common parapet, while Nos. |15
and |17 have cornices. The entrances are now at No. Ill and No. 117,

Numbers 109-115 were bullt in 1856 for Miller & Giles and.were
assessed at $7,000 apiece. No. 117 was also bullt in 1856 for James
Thorburn and was assessed similarly at $7,000.

In 1855, Numbers 109-~117 East 10th Street were four empty lots
betonging to Hamilton Fish, assessed at $3,000 each and about 26 feet
wide. The lots had been awarded to Fish by the partition of Peter
Gerard Stuyvesant's Estate (Liber 1109, p. 486, Map dated Oct. 24,
1848).

The stoops at 109, 111 and I13 East 10th Street were removed in
1919 by St. Mark's Church (B.D. Alt. 2114-1919), and these buildings
are now served by a single basement entry. In spite of this change
and the removal of the roof cornices and lintels, the bulldings retain
their original size and scale. The addition of the continuous simple
iron railing at the first floor level, harmonizes with the block.
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Numbers |15 and (17 were more fortunate in the alterations to their
facades. The stoops were ramoved and a basement entry was Introduced.
The handscime cast iron balconics at the parlor floor windows and the
cornices remain to establish the original Italianate style of these two
buildings.

This fine Greek Revival housc was bullt in 1845 for Joseph Russe!|
and wes asssessed at §7,000. It has a handsome stone doorway with
"eared" fromc surmounted by a cornice. The original door has been re-
placed by double doors in the |ftalianate style, surrounded by a rope
molding. The stoop, with its original handrailings, remains in place.
In 1844 this property was an empty lot assessed to Peter Gerard
Stuyvesant for $2,600.

Six stories high above a basement, this transitional apartment
building displays Romanesque Revival arched windows and door at the
first floor and the Neo-classic influence above, with pedimented windows
and 8 cornice carried on horizontal console brackets. |+ was built for
Augustus Ruff and was designed by Kurtzer & Rohl, architects, in 1899
at an estimated cost of 520,000 (BD or B 949-1899).

This pair of brick Anglo-ltalianate town-houses, with enfrances
Just above grade and rusticatod stone “English Basement', is excoption-
ally handsome and unchanged from the day it was built in 1854 for
Robert Carnley. Each housc was assessed at $5,000. the first floor has
round-arched doors and windows, whilc the windows above are alt segmen-
tal arched with corniced lintels., The drawing room windows extend to
the ficor and cpen upon an ornamental cast iron balcony of the same
design as thosc at the luw stoops and at the arcaways. A simple
bracketed rcof cornicc crowns the houses effectively. in 1853 the
property consisted of one empty iot, assesscd at $3,000 and belonging
to Robert Carniey.

When Feter Gerard Stuyvosant sold the lots fer 121, 123 and 125
East 10th Street to Robert Carniey, April |, 1842 for $3,125 (Liber
425, p. 259), the conveyance also stipulated that there was To be built
upon the land no brewery, distillery, slaughter house, blacksmith shop,
forge, furnace, soap, cancle, starch, vernish, vitriol, glue, ink or
turpentine factory, or any or livery stable, or cattle yard or any
other dangerous noxious or offensive establishment for 20 yuars.
Usual ly this type of covenant carried in perpetuity.

After East Tenth and Eleventh Streets werc opened in 1826, Peter
Gerard Stuyvcsant sold these two and the two adjcining lots on Eleventh
Street for $1,000 to Rovercend William Creighton, the Rector of St.
Marks, 1816-1836 (Convcy. Liber 219, p. 29). The pricc quadrupled to
$16,000 when Reverend Creighton sold the same property to George
Farrar, Feb. |, 1853 (Convey. Liber., 632, p. 353). Farrar very shortly
afterward sold to Bartolome Blanco at a profit cf $600 (Convey. Liber.
632, p. 366) and in Junc 1853 Blanco sold 23 feet of the frontage to
lda Harriott Mascn for 37,110 (Convey. Liber 638, p. 344).

The stoops of beth buildings had boeen roemoved by 1903, when the
New York Missicn and Tract Society connected the interiors to provide
housing facilities for the mission workers serving the ncighborhood
(Building Department Alt. 688-1903). Although this Ruilding Department
application does not specifically include this information, the
Foderal stylc lintels on the exst side of the building were probably
added at that time. Tho application Jdoos cite changes in the basement
windows on Ihis side.
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#127-129 The original door and doorway remain at No. 129 East 10th Street,
(Cont.) although it was altered to a window above the basement entry. Both

doorways were designed in a transitional style from Greek Revival to
Italianate. The brownstone enframement is essentially Greek Revival,
but the door itself, the rope molding and paneled pilasters are In the
later style.

St. Mark's Church acquired these two bulldings, May 27, 1933, No.
127 by purchase for $24,00C from the New York Mission and Tract Society
(Convey. Libor 225, p. 422, Section 2) and No. 129 as a gift from Anna
Bliss (Liber 225, p. 2i16). By 1919 the houses wore operated as a resi-
dence club, called the Petrus Stuyvesant Club. (This was grantoed a C.0.
1344-1922 for studio rooms and club rocms.) Numbers (23~125, (19, 113,
111, 109 E. 10th Street (aiso owned by St. Mark's Church) eventually
were remodeled into studio rocms, In the early 1920's, as an adjunct to
the Petrus Stuyvesant Club.

Two further notes are of speclal interest about 129 East 10th
Street. The Index of American Design in the 1930's recorded by measured
drawing, details of the parior floor as excellent examples of the
Italianate style. In a spcech on February 4, 1862 to The New-York
Historical Society, Benjamin Winthrop, son of Judith Stuyvesant Winthrop,
said that part of the foundation of Dircctor General Peter Stuyvesant's
house was found, when the site for No. 129 East [0th Street was
excavated.

These houses were built in 1854 for John Harriott (No. 127) and for

Bartolome Blanco (No. 129). No. 127 was assessed for $10,000 at the
time it was built and No. 129 for $12,000.

STUYVESANT STREET North side (Between 2nd Avenue and East 10th Street)

Saint Marks-in-the-Bowery is a church which represents construction over
a considerable period of time. The main body of the church, with its field-
stone walls and handsomcly trimmed round arched windows, belongs to the late
Georgian tradition. The steepic is pure Gresk Rovival and is beautifully,
although simply, detailed. The dignified porch Is of cast.iron and belongs
to the ltalianate tradition of the mid-Nineteenth Century. What is most
remarkable, in the case of this church, Is the fact that elements of such
diverse periods should harmonize so well, achieving a singularly attractive
whole,

Historically, this is one of the outstanding churches of New York City,
being the oldest site of worship in Manhattan. [+ is built on the site of
Governor Stuyvesant's "Bouwerie", or farm, and reputedly covers the oxact
spot of ground occupied by his "Bouwerie Chapel". Under this church lies the
famed Stuyvesant Vault wherein arc interred the remains of Peter Stuyvesant,
his heirs, and of the English Governor, Sloughter.

The old chapel was bullt in 660, and Governor Peter Stuyvesant was
buried in its graveyard, when he died in 1672. When Stuyvesant's widow died
in 1692, she offered the chapel to the Dutch Reformed Church. In 1793
Petrus Stuyvesant gave the land, and a sum of money, to the Episcopal Church
to induce them to build a new church building on the site.

Accordingly, thoy built a church for which tho-corngnstone was laid in
1795, the church being opened for worship in 1799. A steeple was added in
1828 and the New York Mirror for that year credits the design of this hand-
some Greek Revival addition to the architect Martin Thompson.

In 1858 the dignified cast iron porch, which we see today, was added
although an earller proposal for a porch had been made. The architect,
A. J. Davis had made a drawing of the church, c. 1836, showing the Greek
Revival steeple and a proposal for the addition of an lonic, hexastyle
portico which was never built. In the eighteen thirties, the handsome iron
railing surrounding the churchyard was erected.
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EAST ELEVENTH STREET South side (Between 2nd and 3rd Avenues)

The Rectory of St. Mark's Church is a handsome two-story building
of brick with a high metal roof, adorned with circular and rectangular
shaped dormer windows. The broad windows on the three exposed sides
have three-centered arches with keystoned lintels at the second floor
and are segmental-arched at the first floor. A handsome porch, at the
first floor level, faces the rear of the church on the east side of the
house. The Rectory was designed by Ernest Flagg, the noted architect,
at an estimated cost of $14,000 (NB 93/1900), It stands on a lot, part
of which was the St. Mark's Graveyard. Sixteen feet, eight inches of the
frontage was purchased from Samue! and Claudia Stone for $13,600, Nov.
24, 1899 (Liber 72, Section 2, p. 480).

FINDINGS AND DESIGNATIONS

On the baslis of a careful consideration of the history, the architecturoc
and other features of this area, the Landmarks Praservation Commission finds
that the St. Mark's Historic District contains bulldings and other improve-
ments which have a special character and special historical and acsthetic
interest and value and which represent onc or more periods or styles of
architecture typical of one or more eras in the history of New York City and
which cause this area, by reason of these factors, to constitute a distinct
section of the City.

The Commission further finds that, among its important qualities, The
St. Mark's Historic District Is a residential area notable for the quality
and variety of 1ts architecture, that It reprecsents onec of the oldest devel-
opments of this part of the City and has its own stroet pattern, that it
occupies the site of Governor Stuyvesant's famous "Bouwcrie" of farm, and has
many associations with thc Stuyvesant family, that while retaining two
Federal fown houses and a fine eighteenth-century church it is reprcsontative
of the best architecture produced in the mid-Nineteenth Century in the
Italianate style, that it has retained much of its original character and
that in the heart of our City it represents a residential area of exceptional
charm and historic significance.

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 63 of the Charter of
the City of New York and Chapter 8-A of the Administrative Code of the City
of New York, thc Landmarks Preservation Commission dosignates as a Historic
District the St. Mark's Historic District, Borough of Manhattan, consisting
of the property bounded by tho western property line of 21 Stuyvesant Street,
Stuyvesant Strcet, the westorn property lline of 42 Stuyvesant Street, the
rear lot lincs of 42 and 44 Stuyvesant Street, the eastern property lines
of 44 and 46 Stuyvesant Strect, Scc:nd Avanuc, .East |ith Street, the wostern
property line of 232 East |ith Street, a portion of the rear lot line of 129
East 10th Street, the rear lot line of 127 East 10th Street, a portion of
the western property |ine of 127 East |0th Stroet, the rear lot lines of 125
through 1G9 East 10th Street, the western property line of 109 East 10th
Street, East 10th Street, the.western propecty Jine of 106 East’ 10th Strect,
and the rear lot 1inis ¢f 106 East 10th Street to the wéstern property 1ing
»f 21-Stuyvesant Street.



APPENDIX C - GENEALOGY

Petrus Stuyvesant 1602-1687
Director General

Nicholas William 1648-1698

I
Gerardus 1691-1777

NichLlas William 1722-1780

Petrus 1727-1805

unmarried m. Margaret Livingston
Juthh 1765-18L4 Cornilia 1768-1825 Nicholas William MargLret Eliszeth PetLr Gerard
m. 1785 m. Dirck Ten Broeck 1769-1833 m. 1795 1772-182L 1775-185L 1777-1847
Benjamin Winthrop Catherine L. Reade unmarried m. 1803 Col. m. Helen
Nichglas Fish Rutherford

Elizabeth Winthrop
m. John Chanler

Margaret Chanler

. me L, M. Rutherford

Stuyvesant Rutherford
born 1842. Changed name
to Rutherford Stuyvesant .

This Stuyvesant genealogical chart is based on Spooner's Historic Families in America, Vel. III.

Society.

8 Chleren including
Gerard 1806-1859
m, Susan Van Horne

Augustus Van Horne Stuyvesant

Augustus Van Horne Stuyvesant, Jr.
(Last m2le of the name)
died 1953

Hamilton Fish

He had no children

Other genealogies are
in Robert W. G. Vail's Ancestral Record of the Family of Augustus Van Horne Stuyvesant, Jr. and in R. Van Rensselaer
Stuyvesant's manuscript "Equestrian Instructions....plus a Stuyvesant Genealogy", both at the New-York Historical
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APPENDIX A

We do not know how much of the strect plan was actually put Into effect.
The Goerck-Mangin Map, 1799, published by Pater Maverick, Now York, 1803, in-
cluded other proposed streets, such as South and West Strocts. This may tiso
be true of the section of the map that describes the Stuyvesant property. The
Bridges Map shows Stuyvesant Street running to the East River; Nicholas William,
Verplanck, Pctor and Governor Streets running just to Judith Streot; Judith
Street to "Bowery Housc"; Gerard Street to Eliza Strect, and Eliza Stroet
running bctwoen Gerard and Stuyvaesant Stracts. (City of New York and Island of
Manhattan as faid out by Commissioncrs appointud by tho Legislature, April 3,
1807, William Bridges, City Surveyor. Engraved by P, Moverick, I1€11). Docu--
ments of the period monticn Stuyvesant, Poter, ond Eliza Strects (Conveyanco
of burying ground to St. Mark's, Liber 71, p. 362, Nov. 10, 1803). Property
owners on Verplanck, Nicholas William, Stuyvosant and Potor Streots, wore
assesscd In condumnation rocords for the opening of Third Avenuc, 1812,

APPENDIX B

Solomon Banta, father of Matthias Banta, wes 2 masonry contractor, and
it can safoly be assumed was rcsponsible for the splondid masenry of this
group of buildings. The Architccts and Mechanics Journal, published in New
York, 1859-61, dous not mcntior 2n architect for "The Triangle'.

Banta workod with Renwick <n the Albemarle Hotel and a warehouse on
38th Street and for John B. Sncok and Rebert Mook, popular architects of
the timc.
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